STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This appeal results from the Defendant's conviction following a two-day jury trial in 

Summers County. However, this was not the Defendant's first encounter with ajury over 

essentially the same issue. In 2014, the Summers County Grand Jury indicted the Defendant in 

case number 14-F-46 for one count of Embezzlement (A. R. 12). The indictment charged that the 

Defendant had embezzled $10,600, allegedly belonging to the Summers County Commission. 

This sum represented a portion of a $41 ,699.0S check that was issued by the regional 

Convention and Visitor's Bureau (CVB) to the local CVB for Summers County (Three Rivers 

Travel Councilor TRTC). This larger check represented money remaining after the regional 

CVB had completed its financial rehabilitation of the local CVB. (A. R. 13, 16). The first 

embezzlement charge resulted fi'om a $10,600 counter check written by the Defendant to CASH. 

(A. R. 12) This smaller check originated from a bank account that the TRTC used to hold its 

funds. CA. R. 2S-26) While the State argued that the Defendant kept or used this money for 

himself, the Defendant maintained that it was used for CVB expenditures. 

Current defense counsel was appointed mid-way through the case when initial counsel 

discovered a contlict of interest. The 2014 case went to jury trial on September 1-2, 201S. That 

trial resulted in a mistrial following a deadlocked jury (8 Not Guilty / 4 Guilty). In November 

201S, the Summers County Grand Jury re-indicted the Defendant in case number IS-F-S7 for the 

embezzlement of the entire $41,699.0S that passed from the regional to the local CVB. (A. R. 13, 

16) The State's central argument was that because the TRTC's bank account was actually listed 

as the Defendant's son "Timothy Berry d/b/a Three Rivers Travel Council" that the Defendant 

essentially pocketed the regional CVB money. 

It is vital to note that the current Indictment lS-F-S7 charges the Defendant with 

embezzling the approximately $42,000.00 that belonged to the Summers County Commission. 
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(A. R. I). It is undisputed that this money began its life as tax revenue from the Hotel Occupancy 

Tax collected at the county level. (A. R. 27-35). This tax revenue is destined by statute to be 

divided amongst the County Commission, the Regional CVB, and the Local CVB. CA. R. 27; W. 

Va. Code § 7-18-14) It is also undisputed that a CVB is not a government entity, but a private 

non-profit entity funded by tax revenue. However, this means that once the County Commission 

disburses the CVB's portion of the revenue that it is no longer public tax money. This difference 

is crucial. both generally speaking and in terms of this case. Public money is closely monitored 

and cannot be spent on just anything - there are strings attached. On the other hand, CVB money 

can be spent on whatever the CVB deems necessary - advertising, payroll, even "wining and 

dining" potential vendors. The public money strings are cut. This allows a CVB to pursue more 

aggressive advertising methods that the government cannot. This does not mean that a CVB has 

carte blanche - most are governed by public contracts that limit their discretion. (A. R. 17-24, an 

example). 

Even with this background, more specific history is still necessary for a complete 

understanding of the case. In the 2000s, the Defendant was an elected member of the Summers 

County Commission and an active member ofthe Summers County CVBlThree Rivers Travel 

Council. In his capacity as a CVB member, the Defendant was one of the few individuals trying 

to maintain its good standing. Most members did not appear for board meetings, financial 

records were spotty, and the entity was slipping into disrepair. The Defendant eventually took the 

reins ofthe organization and put it back on the path to prosperity. Still, the Regional CVB 

(Southern WV CVB) became involved in order to financially rehabilitate the local CVB. The 

Regional CVB took over financial management to ensure that payroll and bills were met. To 

facilitate this, the Regional CVB took possession ofthe Local CVB's share of the hotel tax 

revenues. Once the local CVB was back on its feet, the Regional entity decided to cede control 
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back to the local members. As part of this hand-off, the Regional CVB was required to return 

leftover funds that legally belonged to the Summers County CVB. Thus, Southern WV CVB, by 

its CEO Doug Maddy, presented the Three Rivers Travel Council with a check for $41,699.05

drawn from the Regional CVB Account and Paid to the Order ofThree Rivers Travel Council. 

(A. R. 13). While "Summers County" did not appear on the check, the County Commission was 

not unaware ofthis entire process. Mr. Maddy and the Defendant testified at both trials that CVB 

officials presented themselves at Commission meetings to keep the body abreast ofthe CVBs' 

activities. (Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, Pg. 79, In. 3 - 24). 

At the beginning of2011, the regional CVB finally remitted the $42,000 to the local 

entity and it was deposited into the TRTC bank account. (A. R. 13). At this time, as the 

Defendant infonned the Court and Jury, the CVB would have to scramble to participate in the 

"tourism promotion season:' (Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, Pg. 165, In. 21 - Pg. 166, In. 11). The 

Defendant then had to make several rapid purchases and expenditures to ensure that the local 

CVB and Summers County did not miss the opportunity to promote the area for the upcoming 

summer tourist season. The State contended that several of the cash purchases/withdrawals as 

well as payments to companies owned by his son constituted embezzlement of"county" funds. 

During trial, two major issues arose - one that infected the entire trial and one that 

appeared at the very end of the trial. The relevant Indictment charges that " .. .Jerry E. Berry did 

feloniously embezzle, fraudulently convert ...and steal.. .money ...belonging to the Commission 

of Summers County, to-wit taking and converting $41,699.05 ...by virtue of his employment at 

Three Rivers Travel Council." (A. R. 1, emphasis added.) It specifically states that the money 

allegedly taken belonged to the Summers County Commission. However, as stated, the check 

originated from the Southern WV CVB Account - both exhibits and testimony showed this. 

Second, during the State's rebuttal closing argument, the Prosecuting Attorney posed specific 
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questions to the Defense - shifting the burden of proof at a time when it cannot be cured. 

Following the State's rebuttal argument, the Defense moved for a mistrial based upon improper 

burden shifting and the Court denied said motion. 

Based upon this and the following argument, the Defendant-Petitioner respectfully asks 

this Court to reverse his conviction and direct a judgment of acquittal or to remand the case for a 

new trial. 

S~YOFTHEARGUMENT 

The first and third assignments of error in this case present issues of abuse ofdiscretion 

that is that the Circuit Court exceeded it power when examining the facts and law before it and 

rendering a decision. The second error raises a fundamental issue of fairness, i.e. the burden 

shifting. 

The first argument is essentially that the Defendant could not have been convicted of 

converting money from the Summers County Commission when the Commission had no interest 

in the money. The Circuit Court erred twice when it denied the Defendant's mid-trial and end-of

trial motions for acquittal based on a complete lack of evidence to support a vital portion of the 

indictment. See, W. Va. R. Crim. Pro. 29(a). This raises the issue not only of an abuse of 

discretion in denying the motion, but also of the sufficiency ofthe evidence. That is to say, that 

the based upon the evidence elicited throughout the entire trial, the State left elements 

unsupported and unproven. 

The primary sub-issue here is the ownership or possession of the money in question. 

While this Court has eschewed a ''technical commercial law" definition ofownership of 

embezzled funds, the facts here are distinct from the situations in past jurisprudence. In State v. 

Frasher, this Court announced that "actual or constructive possession of the goods by the one 
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alleged in the indictment to be the owner thereof is sufficient." Syllabus Pt. 2, State v. Frasher, 

265 S.E.2d 43, 164 W. Va. 572 (W. Va. 1980). That opinion went on to describe multiple 

situations in which the defendant complained that the indictment did not allege the correct owner 

and thus the conviction could not stand. However, in the cases cited therein, a "special property 

relationship" or other connection remained between the "alleged" owner and the property (e.g., a 

person owned chattel through a corporation, a person owned property along with others, or the 

government retained a right of reversion over the property or money). This case is 

distinguishable from that general scenario because the alleged owner, the Summers County 

Commission, retained no rights or interest in the money. Once the hotel tax revenues had been 

disbursed to the CVBs, it ceased being government money and became the sole property of the 

CVB(s). Thus, the Summers County Commission was not the proper owner to be alleged in the 

indictment and the motion for judgment of acquittal should have been sustained. 

Another sub-issue in this category is the sufficiency of proof regard the elements of 

embezzlement. Because the indictment charges the Defendant "by virtue of his employment at 

Three Rivers Travel Council," the traditional elements of embezzlement apply to this charge. I 

Again, the Frasher case re-iterated the six core elements for embezzlement: 

(l) the trust relation of the person charged, and that he falls within that class of 
persons named; (2) that the property or thing claimed to have been embezzled or 
converted is such property as is embraced in the statute; (3) that it is the property 
of another person; (4) that it came into the possession, or was placed in the care, 
of the accused, under and by virtue of his office, place or employment; (5) that 
his manner of dealing with or disposing of the property, constituted a 
fraudulent conversion and an appropriation ofthe same to his own use, and 
(6) that the conversion of the property to his own use was with the intent to 
deprive the owner thereof. Syllabus Pt. 1, Frasher. Emphasis Added. 

1 Since the Defendant was simultaneously a County Commissioner, it is vital to distinguish between "public official" 
embezzlement and "private person" embezzlement. Public Official embezzlement requires fewer elements and is a 
general intent crime; Private Person embezzlement requires more elements and is a specific intent crime. 

Page 6 of29 



The Defendant does not complain that the first four elements were not or could not be 

proven. It is not disputed that there was a trust relation and as an officer ofthe eVB the 

Defendant was in the relevant class of persons. Further, the property in question is money 

certainly embraced by the statute. As well, that it came into his possession because of his 

involvement with the CVB. Even the third element concerning ownership by another person is 

not an issue - the Defendant does not contend that this $42,000.00 belonged to Jerry E. Berry 

individually. The dispute here is over the disposition of the funds and the Defendant's intent to 

permanently deprive the owner of the money. 

The Petitioner fully understands the heavy burden he undertakes when challenging the 

sufficiency of the evidence following a conviction by ajury. Syllabus Pt. 3, State v. Guthrie, 461 

S.E.2d 163, 194 W. Va. 657 (W. Va. 1995). All the same, the record is entirely bare as to any 

evidence that the disposition ofthe money was improper or a fraudulent conversion to the 

Defendant's own use. In fact, there was documentary evidence and testimony that at least some 

of the money was used for eVB expenditures. (A. R. 25-26). Moreover, the State presented no 

positive evidence that the Defendant ever had any guilty intent to deprive the County 

Commission, the Regional, or local CVB of its money. There was no dispute that some ofthe 

funds were permanently taken from the account - and paid to individuals and companies for 

goods and services rendered. There was never any evidence or testimony that the Defendant ever 

pocketed, spent, or converted any of the money from the account - that is, there was no actual 

evidence that it was converted to his personal use. 

The State wanted to the jury to believe that because there were some unexplained 

expenses that they were automatically improper fraudulent - even in the face of evidence that 

many ofthe expenses were justified as eVB expenses. In essence, the State wanted the jury to 
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ignore positive evidence demonstrating innocence and replace that with guilt supported by no 

evidence and a forced conjecture. 

The second main argument is that when the Prosecuting attorney posed questions to the 

defense or asked about issues that the defense had not answered, that he improperly shifted the 

burden of proof onto the Defendant. It is a cornerstone of the criminal system that the State 

cannot shift the burden of proof onto the defendant (outside of affirmative defenses). See, In re 

Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970), Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 

510, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed.2d 39 (1979), and State v. 0 'Connell, 256 S.E.2d 429, 163 W.Va. 

366 (W.Va., 1979). It is also a settled and popular tradition for defense counsel to "ask 

questions" of the prosecution during closing argument. The strategy is simple: defense counsel 

has but one chance to argue to the jury, so force the prosecution to answer specific questions that 

defense counsel knows the prosecution will struggle with. If the defense poses certain questions 

and the jury does not hear a satisfactory response on rebuttal, they may have a reasonable doubt 

about guilt. The opposite cannot apply to the prosecution because it carries the burden of proof. 

To ask the defense to answer certain questions is to shift the burden. This is particularly 

egregiolls when done during the prosecution's rebuttal argument - the defense has no 

opportunity to respond. 

Yet this is not the end of the argument. Even ifthe Prosecuting Attorney overstepped his 

bounds in asking the questions, if it did not rise to the level of prejudicing the jury then there is 

no harm. This will require the Court to apply the four-step analysis from State v. Sugg - the 

tendency to mislead the jury, whether the remarks were isolated or extensive, strength of other 

competent proof, and whether the comments were purposefully placed before the jury as a 

diversion. State v. Sugg, 456 S.E.2d 469, 193 W. Va. 388 (W. Va. 1995). The record will 

demonstrate that shifting the burden is seriously misleading for the jury (particularly after the 
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judge has instructed the jury)~ that the State's rebuttal had several burden-shifting statements, 

that (as argued elsewhere) the rest of the State's evidence was very weak, and that these 

questions blatantly ignored a gap in the State's evidence and competent evidence from the 

defense. 

This prosecutorial error then led to another error by the Circuit Court, namely that after 

this mistake during rebuttal argument that it did not correct the statements or declare a mistrial 

based on the burden shifting. Following the Prosecuting Attorney's rebuttal, defense counsel 

objected to the remarks and argued for a mistrial based on the burden shifting. The Circuit Court 

then denied the motion and allowed the jury to deliberate. Of course, we will never know if the 

jury took the Prosecuting Attorney's rebuttal questions to heart and seriously considered them. 

Trial courts are empowered by West Virginia Code § 62-3-7 to discharge ajury before a 

verdict if it finds "manifest necessity" to do so. This decision is of course directed to the court's 

sound discretion and this power must be exercised cautiously. See, State v. Craft, 131 W.Va. 

195,47 S.E.2d 681 (1948) and State ex reI. Brooksv. Worrell, IS6 W.Va. 8, 1905.E.2d474 

(1972). This Court has long held that "manifest necessity" has no rigid definition and depends 

upon the circumstances before the trial court. Syllabus Pt. 2, State v. Little, 197 S.E. 626, 120 W. 

Va. 213 (W. Va. 1938). However, where serious prejudice to the defendant was demonstrated, 

this Court has held that manifest necessity exists. Accordingly, few things are more prejudicial 

than shifting the burden of proof onto the defendant. Therefore, if a mistrial requires manifest 

necessity and that exists where serious prejudice exists and burden shifting is prejudicial, then 

burden shifting requires declaring a mistrial (particularly on the defendant's motion). 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 


The Petitioner submits that oral argument for this appeal is necessary under Rule 19(a) as 

there are questions regarding the sufficiency ofthe evidence and a result potentially against the 

weight of the evidence. Counse1 estimates that some oflegal issues raised herein may not be 

sufficiently settled that a full Signed Opinion may be necessary. 

ARGUMENT BEGINS ON NEXT PAGE 
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ARGUMENT 


I. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS 
FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL 

The first argument the Petitioner asserts is undoubtedly the most important, but also 

perhaps the most technically complex. Essentially, the assertion is that the trial court abused its 

discretion in denying the Defendant's motions for judgment of acquittal. This raises the related 

issue that the evidence was insufficient to convict the Defendant. 

A. 	The record at mid-trial and end-of-trial supported a motion for judgment of 
acquittal. 

The central contention here is that the State failed to establish or present proof of all the 

elements of the crime of embezzlement during either case-in-chief. Generally speaking, ifthe 

State cannot provide at least a modicum of proofofeach element of a crime during its case in 

chief, then a judgment ofacquittal is appropriate. In this case, the State failed to provide 

evidence of a fraudulent conversion, the specific intent to deprive the owner, in addition to 

alleging an erroneous owner of the money. 

The standard for a judgment ofacquittal is controlled by both Rule and jurisprudence. 

Rule 29 of the Rules ofCriminal Procedure states that "The court on motion of a defendant or its 

own motion shall order the entry ofjudgment of acquittal ofone or more offenses charged in the 

indictment. .. after the evidence on either side is closed ifthe evidence is insufficient to sustain a 

conviction ofsuch offense or offenses." (Emphasis added.) In conjunction with this rule, this 

Court has announced that such a ruling is in the sound discretion ofthe trial court. As such, the 

actual ruling is judge by an abuse of discretion standard and any underlying factual findings are 

reviewed for clear error. State v. Vance, 207 W. Va. 640, 535 S.E2d 484 (W. Va. 2000) 

(applying the two-pronged standard to motions for new trial, however, the analysis applies to 

nearly all rulings based on procedural rulings). Here, the trial court's discretion should be 
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bounded by the facts and evidence placed before it. Thus, ifa court were clearly wrong about the 

facts, then it would not have the discretion to issue a ruling unaligned with the facts. 

Analysis in this case requires paying close attention the offense alleged (embezzlement), 

how it was aIleged to occur, and what evidence the State provided to support that aIlegation. This 

analysis should demonstrate that the trial court was clearly wrong about the evidence and thus 

did not have the discretion to deny the Defendant's motion. 

The Defendant was indicted by the Summers County Grand Jury of Embezzlement under 

W. Va. Code § 61-3-20? Specifically, the Indictment charged that he "did embezzle, 

fraudulently convert to his own use, and steal. .. money ...belonging to the Summers County 

Commission, to-wit, taking and converting $41,699.05 ..." (A. R. 1). This means that in order to 

prove the third element of embezzlement (that the property taken is the property of another), the 

State would have to prove that the money belonged to the County Commission. The State failed 

to do so during its case-in-chief. 

This is a vital point because jurisprudence in this state and nationwide requires that there 

be some relationship between the alleged owner and the person from whom the money was 

taken. As stated in Frasher, "proofofactual or constructive possession of the goods by the one 

alleged in the indictment to be the owner thereof is sufficient." Syllabus Pt. 2, Frasher. So long 

as there was at least a "special property interest" in the property, the indictment would stand. ld 

at 47. The Frasher court went on to give examples in which the alleged and actual owners varied

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