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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The State introduced sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction of embezzlement. Petitioner's 

claim that the State failed to establish that Summers County had legal title to the $41,699 (which he 

took and deposited into a personal account) is both legally inaccurate and entirely irrelevant. That is, 

Petitioner's fraudulent conversion and misappropriation of the money for his own personal benefit 

qualified as embezzlement regardless ofwho was the rightful owner of that money. Although there is a 

strong argument that a CVB - an entity funded by tax revenue, run by public officials, and engaged in 

providing a benefit to the general public - is an instrumentality of the entity that funds it, and therefore 

that money in its possession is, directly or constructively, public money; but, even if it is not, this 
. ' 

Court has held that the exact, technically accurate identity of the party from which an individual has 

embezzled is not a necessary element of the crime, and thus language in the indictment concerning the 

victim entities' identity does not limit the scope ofprosecution. 
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The State also introduced sufficient evidence to establish that Petitioner converted the money to 

his own benefit, and that he acted with the requisite intent when doing so. Petitioner claims that the 

State failed to put on any direct, positive evidence demonstrating that his inappropriate use of the funds 

- that is, that the State failed to proffer evidence of the particular benefits (like a car or watch) that 

Petitioner obtained with the embezzled funds. However, the State was under no obligation to make 

such a showing, or to put on any direct evidence at all. The State is allowed to rely solely on 

circumstantial evidence, and in this case there was powerful, highly inculpatory circumstantial 

evidence (such as the fact that Petitioner frequently withdrew large, round sums in cash, and made 

numerous transfers and payments to his son as well as two closely-held corporations of which he was 

the owner) from which the jury could conclude, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Petitioner both 

misused the money, and that he willfully did so with full knowledge that what he was doing was 

illegal. 

Petitioner also claims that the prosecuting attorney acted inappropriately when he posed 

questions to the jury during closing argument. However, there is ample authority demonstrating that 

this rhetorical technique is not improper, does not impermissible shift the burden of proof, and 

certainly does not amount to the level of prosecutorial misconduct. Furthermore, even if this Court 

determined that a prosecutor's use of questions during closing was improper, the complained-of 

remarks were isolated (made only during rebuttal), the case against Petitioner was strong, the questions 

were not a diversion (in fact, they directly related to evidence introduced by the State), and did not 

engender any unfair prejudice. Thus, applying this Court's jurisprudence concerning prosecutorial 

misconduct, Petitioner is not entitled to his requested relief. 

ARGUMENT 

In his brief, Petitioner asserts what amounts to two assignments of errors. First, he contends 

that the circuit court erred when it denied his motions, made at the conclusion of the State's case-in
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chief and then again at the close of evidence, for a judgment of acquittal predicated on the State's 

purported failure to establish all the necessary elements of embezzlement. Specifically, Petitioner 

argues that in order to "prove the third element ofembezzlement ... the State would have to prove that 

the money belonged to the [Summers] County Commission." Pet. Br. at 12. He further claims that the 

State failed to put on evidence demonstrating that "Petitioner used th[ e] money for an improper or 

illegal purpose." Id. at 15. 

Second, Petitioner asserts that the prosecuting attorney's closing argument improperly shifted 

the burden ofproof See id. at 18. Specifically, Petitioner argues that when the prosecutor "posed direct 

questions" during his closing rebuttal he "cause [ d] the jury to believe that the defense had some 

obligation to prove something during the trial." Id. at 20. He claims that this purported burden-shift 

warrants a reversal ofhis conviction. Id. at 20-22. Alternatively, he argues that even if reversal was not 

warranted, the circuit court should have granted his motion for a mistrial due the potential for prejudice 

created by the prosecutor's remarks. Id. at 24. Neither claim entitles Petitioner to relief. 

1) The State's evidence established all the elements necessary for an embezzlement 
conviction. 

Generally speaking, embezzlement is "a criminal breach of trust that violates a fiduciary 

relationship." 26 Am. Jur. 2d Embezzlement § 1. As this Court long-ago explained in State v. Moyer, 

embezzlement was "unknown to the common law" and therefore is a "purely statutory offense" 

enacted for the purpose of ensuring that a criminal sanction applies to the "fraudulent conversion of 

money or property which could not be reached by ... common law [larceny]." 58 W. Va. 146,52 S.E. 

30,32 (1905); accord State v. Houdeyshell, 174 W. Va. 688,690,329 S.E.2d 53,56 (1985); see also 

State v. Riley, 151 W. Va. 364,390, 151 S.E.2d 308, 324 (1966) ("There is no common law crime of 

embezzlement, and the statute merely makes one who converts to his own use the property of another 

which is legally in his custody, guilty of larceny."). "[T]he hallmark of embezzlement is the trust 

relationship and the subsequent conversion or appropriation of ... entrusted property." State v. 
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Frasher, 164 W. Va. 572, 576-77, 265 S.E.2d 43, 47 (1980) overruled on other grounds by State v. 

Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657,461 S.E.2d 163 (1995); see also Comm. on Legal Ethics of the W Virginia 

State Bar v. Six, 181 W. Va. 52, 55, 380 S.E.2d 219, 222 (1989) ("The essence of embezzlement is 

receipt of money in a trust relationship and conversion of it to his own use."). 

West Virginia's embezzlement statute, W. Va. Code § 61-3-20, is dense and best understood 

when broken down into its component pieces. First, the statute identifies the classes ofpersons covered 

by the statute, explaining that both public officials and private citizens can embezzle: 

If any officer, agent, clerk or servant of this state, or of any county ... or any officer of 
public trust in this state, or any agent, clerk or servant of any firm or person, or company or 
association ofpersons not incorporated embezzles ... 

W. Va. Code § 61-3-20. Next, the statute identifies the nature of the illicit conduct, describing the 

criminal act which constitutes embezzlement as: 

Fraudulent[] conver[sion] to [one's] own use [of] ... money ... [or various other 
monetary instruments] . . . or any effects or property of any other person, which shall have 
come into his possession, or been placed under his care or management, by virtue of his 
office, place or employment ... 

Id. Finally, the statute emphasizes that a pattern of conduct (and circumstantial evidence) can provide 

sufficient proof in embezzlement cases, explaining that it is not necessary for the State to: 

describe in the indictment, or to identify upon the trial, the particular bullion, money, bank 
note, draft or security for money which is so taken, converted to his own use or embezzled. 

This Court, interpreting the statute, has identified six elements which the State must establish in 

order to obtain an embezzlement conviction. They are: 1) the trust relation of the person charged, 2) 

2 This breakdown examines the language used in the first paragraph of W. Va. Code § 61-3-20; the 
second paragraph contains substantially similar (but not identical) language which omits the references 
to private individuals and entities. This Court has explained that the embezzlement statute actually sets 
forth two crimes: one that applies to private persons, and one to public officials. State v. Brown, 188 
W. Va. 12, 14,422 S.E.2d 489,491 (1992) ("West Virginia Code § 61-3-20 clearly provides for two 
separate embezzlement offenses: a general embezzlement offense and a specific offense pertaining 
only to public officials."); see also State ex reI. Cogar v. Kidd, 160 W.Va. 371, 234 S.E.2d 899 (1977). 
The relevance of the distinction between the two crimes in this case is discussed infra. 
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that the property or thing converted is "property" as described in the statute, 3) that the thing stolen is 

the property of another, 4) that it came into the possession or care of the accused by virtue ofhis office, 

place, or employment, 5) that accused's manner of dealing with or disposing of the property 

constituted fraudulent conversion or misappropriation of the same to his own use, and 6) that accused 

had the requisite intent when converting the property. Syl. pt. 2, Moyer, 58 W. Va. at 146, 52 S.E. at 

30-31; accord Syl. pt. 1, Frasher, 164 W. Va. at 572, 265 S.E.2d at 44. Petitioner contends in his brief 

that the State failed to establish the third, fifth and sixth elements. An examination of the record 

reveals that neither of those claims is supportable. 

a) 	 The money at issue in this case clearly belonged to "another" and therefore the State 
satisfied the third element needed for an embezzlement conviction. 

The animating thrust of Petitioner's claim with respect to the third element is that Petitioner 

"could not be convicted of converting money from the Summers County Commission when the 

Commission had no interest in [that] money." Pet. Br. at 5. Petitioner argues that "once [the] hotel tax 

revenue [was] disbursed to the CVBs, it ceased being government money, and became the sole 

property of the CVB(s)." Pet. Br. at 6; see also id. at 12 ("[I]n order to prove the third element of 

embezzlement (that the property taken is property of another), the State would have to prove that the 

money belonged to the County Commission). It would seem then, that the foundation of Petitioner's 

argument is the curious proposition that misappropriating money is okay, as long as the money 

misappropriated belonged to a private entity, not the government. A review of the language of the 

embezzlement statute demonstrates that Petitioner has set the cornerstone of his argument on shifting 

sand, not bedrock. An individual is no less guilty of embezzlement if the funds converted or 

misappropriated belong to a private company rather than the government. W. Va. Code § 61-3-20 

("[A ]ny agent, clerk or servant of any firm or person, or company ... [who] embezzles or fraudulently 

converts to his own use ... money ... which shall have come into his possession, or been placed under 

his care or management, by virtue of his office, place or employment ... shall be guilty of the larceny 
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thereof."); see also State v. Berle, 117 W. Va. 825, 188 S.E. 481 (1936) (recognizing that an employee 

may be guilty of embezzlement for converting an employer's money or goods for his own, personal 

use ). 

To the extent Petitioner's claim is predicated on the language of the indictment, see Pet. Br. at 

12, his argument still rests on shaky ground. While it is true that the indictment charged Petitioner with 

"embezzle[ing], [and] fraudulently convert[ing] to his own use ... certain ... money ... belonging to 

the Commission of Summers County ... ," (App. Vol. I at 1), the language identifying the legal owner 

of the embezzled property is not a relevant limiting factor. This Court has never held that the State 

must actually or properly identify the person or entity from whom money or property was embezzled; 

instead, the State need only establish that the converted money or property rightfully belonged to 

someone else. See e.g., Frasher, 64 W. Va. at 580, 265 S.E.2d at 48 ("In both embezzlement and 

larceny cases it has long been held that a taking is wrongful, not only from the person owning legal 

title, but also from any person entitled to possession.") (quoting State v. Brewer, 7 Or. App. 158, 162, 

490 P.2d 202,204 (1971)); cfGarrett v. State, 147 Ga. App. 666,666,250 S.E.2d 1,2 (1978) ("It is 

well established that those who steal will not be permitted to raise 'nice and delicate questions' as to 

the title of that which is stolen.") (cited in Frasher, 64 W. Va. at 580, 265 S.E.2d at 48). In fact, the 

Frasher court expressly rejected the argument the argument that "an embezzlement indictment must 

nanle the real owner of the property as the victim," and instead held that "that embezzlement can occur 

from one having the lawful possession of the property and that the true owner of the property need not 

be alleged in the indictment." Frasher, 64 W. Va. at 578, 265 S.E.2d at 47. 

This rule makes sense in light of the history of embezzlement (a pure creature of statute) and 

the role this crime fills in the criminal code. Embezzlement was codified in order to criminalize a 

particular form behavior - theft accomplished by abuse of a position of trust - that was difficult or 

impossible to prosecute under the common law (both for technical reasons and because of the 
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problems ofproofthat are inherent in the circumstances necessary for theft of this kind to occur). The 

statute's broad, but not unlimited, definition of "property" evinces the legislature's intent to avoid the 

sort of technical defenses which allowed embezzlers to escape prosecution for common law larceny 

without transforming or redefining the crime of larceny. Similarly, the fact that the statute does not 

require the State to "describe in the indictment, or to identify upon the trial, the [property] ... taken 

[by the defendant and], converted to his own use or embezzled," W. Va. Code 61-3-20, lends credence 

to the idea that the legislature enacted a statute designed to concretely plug this particular hole in the 

common law and eliminate the ability to evade criminal punishment for obviously illegal conduct by 

way of technical argument. 

In light of this Court's recognition that the "hallmark of embezzlement is the trust relationship 

and the subsequent conversion or appropriation of the entrusted property," Frasher, 164 W. Va. at 

576-77, 265 S.E.2d at 47, there seems to be no reason why, if the State has proffered evidence that 

establishes - beyond a reasonable doubt - that an individual has taken advantage of any such 

relationship for personal gain, that the identity of the party whose trust has been abused matters. 

Requiring the indictment to identify the exact owner of converted property merely affords 

sophisticated defendants an avenue to exploit the complexities common to embezzlement cases. In 

Frasher, this Court rejected a "technical commercial law ... approach" to determining whether or not 

an individual had taken the property of another. See Frasher, 164 W. Va. at 579, 265 S.E.2d at 48 

(citing United States v. Maxwell, 588 F.2d 568, 573 (7th Cir. 1978)). Given that embezzlement is a 

statutory creation designed to close a loophole, not create new ones, it is eminently reasonable for this 

Court to maintain the position, espoused in Frasher, that the State is under no obligation in 

embezzlement cases to precisely identify the technical, legal owner of the property that has been 

fraudulently converted by the defendant. CfState v. Altig, 243 Or. 138, 141,412 P.2d 25, 26-27 (1966) 

(explaining, in an embezzlement case, that "[t]he state had no duty to prove who had 'title' to the 
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money. The defendant was accused of violating a specific statute which denounces certain conduct if 

committed with a specific intent ... [thus] [w]e are required to test the evidence only against the 

statute in question."). As long as the State can satisfy the elements set forth in the statute (as outlined 

and delineated in Moyer) then the State has met its evidentiary burden. The exact identity of the 

rightful owner of the converted property is not one of those elements. 

The evidence adduced by the State at trial clearly demonstrates that the money which Petitioner 

converted was the property of "another." In fact, there is a powerful argument that, despite Petitioner's 

repeated claims to' the contrary, the money in this case - that is, the bed tax revenue allocated to Visit 

WV by Summers County, which Visit WV intended to "return" via the check which Petitioner took 

and deposited - belonged to Summers County because a CVB is an instrumentality of the government 

entity that funds it. See February 3, 1985 Attorney General Advisory Opinion, 61 W. Va. Op. Att'y 

Gen. 72, 1986 WL 288932 at *3 (1986) (concluding that because the city of Charleston's CVB 

"receives most of its funding from public sources, it was created for and serves a public purpose as 

recognized by the Legislature, and representatives of the mayor and the county commission serve on 

its board of directors" the CVB can be considered "an instrumentality of the City of Charleston"); cf 

Syl. pt. 1, State ex rei. W. Virginia Real Estate Appraiser Licensing & Certification Bd. v. Chiles, 234 

W. Va. 125, 763 S.E.2d 663, 664 (2014) (holding that one of the factors in determining if a "particular 

organization is a [government] agency" is "whether it is financially dependent on public funds"); 

Charleston Gazette v. Smithers, 232 W. Va. 449, 460 n.l8, 752 S.E.2d 603, 614 (2013) (explaining

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